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ROAD TRAFFIC AMENDMENT BILL 2008 
Committee 

The Chairman of Committees (Hon George Cash) in the chair; Hon Jon Ford (Minister for Employment 
Protection) in charge of the bill. 
Clauses 1 to 4 put and passed. 
Clause 5: Section 78A amended — 
Hon PETER COLLIER: I want some clarification of this clause. Obviously, a number of instances have arisen 
in which an offender lost his licence but had not been notified of the new offence. What happens if the offender 
has not been notified and then has his car impounded?  

Hon JON FORD: In the case of a court appearance—a conviction—the person would know, because he would 
be in court. In the case of a points accumulation, the person would be served with a notice that his licence had 
been suspended. 

Hon PETER COLLIER: What would happen if the person had not been notified? For example, there might be 
a delay in sending out the notice, or, as has happened in some instances, the notice might have been sent to the 
wrong address. A range of situations might apply.  

Hon JON FORD: This clause will not apply if a person has lost his licence because of some fines enforcement 
provision. This clause will apply only if a person has lost his licence because of a court order or points 
accumulation, or because the director general has suspended the person’s licence under section 48 of the Road 
Traffic Act due to the fact that the person is an alcoholic, or for some other reason.  

Hon PETER COLLIER: Is it possible under this clause that a person could have his car impounded for 48 
hours and use as a defence the fact that he had not been notified that he had lost his licence, because of the type 
of situation that I outlined previously?  

Hon JON FORD: I am advised that such a situation could not happen, because, as I said previously, if a person 
loses his licence because of a court order, he will be in court; and in the case of a points accumulation, the 
person’s licence will not be suspended until the person has been served with notice of the suspension.  
Clause put and passed.  
Clause 6 put and passed.  
Clause 7: Section 79 amended —  
Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: During the second reading speech and second reading debate, this was the 
offending clause in this whole piece of legislation. I have not been provided with a marked-up version of the 
parent act, so it is a bit difficult, but I think it is nevertheless clear that the bill states — 

Section 79 is amended . . .  
(a) by inserting before “A member” at the beginning of the section the subsection designation 

“(1)”; 
Further — 

(2) The period for which the vehicle is impounded ends — 
(a) unless the member of the Police Force specifies a longer period under paragraph (b) 

or the Commissioner extends the period under subsection (3), on the 7th day after the 
day . . .  

I cannot follow this amendment; I will come back to it.  
I will move to the substantial argument. This is the offending clause which, although it is suspended outside the 
parent act, basically states that a police officer cannot just impound a car for 48 hours on the side of the road in 
the heat of the moment, but in fact must impose a seven-day impounding penalty for a first offence or a 28-day 
penalty for a second offence. Will the minister please outline how this will happen in practice on the side of the 
road and how it will appear to a person who is accused of an offence? 

Hon JON FORD: If a member of the police force reasonably suspects that a person has committed a hooning-
type offence about which he is investigating, has actually witnessed, or has had a complaint made, and he goes to 
the location and he has a witness or he sees skid marks on the road or whatever, and he is satisfied with that 
evidence, he can issue a seven-day impoundment notice. If that police officer has available to him a means of 
determining that this is a second offence, whether it be by way of a computer in the car or information back from 
the police station, the police officer can impose a 28-day impoundment. If he cannot ascertain whether it is a 
person’s second offence, he can impose a seven-day impoundment notice. If, after going back to the police 
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station and making inquiries, he finds out that it is a second offence, he can issue a notice extending that notice 
to 28 days. That is the practicality of it. 

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: Let us unpack this a little bit. If somebody has been stopped on the side of the 
road, can an officer have a reasonable suspicion because somebody said that he saw a car hooning and that it was 
a white Ford Falcon driving down the road at high speed or skidding and doing certain things? What level of 
reasonableness and suspicion would account for issuing a seven-day impoundment? 

Hon JON FORD: The rules of evidence have to apply sufficiently that the officer is comfortable that the charge 
can be made out and sustained in court. Ultimately the court will decide. One witness report would not be 
sufficient unless there was corroborating evidence, such as a numberplate or another witness who could 
physically point to the vehicle. It is a standard that needs to be satisfied for the charge to be upheld in a court 
proceeding.  

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: This is a very fruitful area that we have tapped into here. What training do police 
officers have in making a judgement about the rules of evidence in this regard?  

Hon JON FORD: They are trained through the Western Australia Police Academy and mentored through the 
police force. A first-day constable will not be sent out in this situation. A junior constable will be out with a 
senior police officer who has experience.  

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: Would it be fair to say that a police officer on the side of the road is making a 
judgement about the evidence before him, and that he then makes a decision about the penalty that is to be 
imposed? 

Hon JON FORD: The act requires that the police officer is scrutinised by a senior officer—that is, at the rank of 
inspector or above. The act provides for it to be done post impoundment. However, in practice, the police officer 
calls through to that senior officer to explain what he is doing, and that senior officer then advises the officer out 
in the field whether he can proceed.  

Hon PETER COLLIER: I want confirmation on this matter. Is the minister saying that the police officer can 
use his telephone to find out from the senior officer whether he can proceed, and the senior officer must confirm 
that the junior officer has reasonable grounds? How can that evidence be conveyed by phone? I would be 
interested in what is meant by “reasonable grounds”.   

Hon JON FORD: Hon Peter Collier is right: in practice the police call the operations unit and have to convince 
a senior officer that there is evidence to convict. They have to actually satisfy a senior officer that they have 
enough evidence. Therefore, the senior officer makes a judgement based on the information that is given to him 
or her by the field officer. 

Hon Peter Collier: What sort of evidence? 

Hon JON FORD: A statement of facts, witnesses, physical evidence such as road markings, other witnesses, 
numberplates and so on. 

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: Another police officer—arguably not the junior officer on the side of the road—
has an offence reported to him or her. The offence involves skidding tyres or somebody pointing and saying, 
“That car over there was hooning”. The junior officer phones a senior inspector and says, “Am I right in making 
this judgement?” What more sound judgement could the senior officer contribute, given that, first, it is only a 
suspicion; secondly, the senior officer is not at the scene; and, thirdly, the senior officer is hearing only second-
hand evidence, which might be hearsay evidence? Can the minister please explain how a senior officer at one 
end of a phone can clear up a matter about whether somebody has committed an offence sufficient to impose 
impoundment? Can the minister explain how phoning a senior officer would improve the situation by providing 
reasonableness and in judging the rules of evidence? 

Hon JON FORD: These are the current provisions. This is what happens now. There must be a reasonable 
suspicion. The senior officer and the officer by the side of the road need to make a judgement that the evidence 
will stand in court. I am advised that in practice to date police officers have actually witnessed the offence. 
Certainly Hon Paul Llewellyn’s example of somebody saying, “It was that car over there” and waving a finger is 
not sufficient and will not stand in court. The reason the Parliament decided that a senior officer needed to 
supervise the police officer was for exactly those reasons: so that there would be a consistent, level and 
reasonable bar of evidence. The police are public servants. They are not in the business of inconveniencing the 
general public. They are not going to risk the ire of the court. They have a reputation to uphold and they are 
required by their job and by the law to not waste taxpayers’ money by instituting unnecessary proceedings. If 
Hon Paul Llewellyn’s example proceeded, it would undermine the police service and the law, and the police 
would not do that. 
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Hon PETER COLLIER: I have a degree of sympathy with what Hon Paul Llewellyn is saying. I do not 
actually agree with him, but I understand where he is coming from. I have to say, as a new kid on the block in 
this place, I had difficulty with the “reasonable assumptions” we used when we debated other legislation. We 
have just dealt with that in the living wills legislation. Although we have not voted on it yet, it certainly has 
affected my vote, but I was satisfied with the response I got. I asked the minister about the term “reasonable” in 
debate on amendments made previously to the Road Traffic Act. The term is not really subjective, although it 
has a degree of subjectivity in general terms. I understand where the minister is coming from in that I do not 
believe police will arrest someone for hoon driving without a substantial amount of evidence. Can the minister 
tell me what the term “reasonably believing” means in this instance? What are some examples in which an 
officer would say that he has sufficient evidence to impound a vehicle? 

Hon JON FORD: That is an interesting response. In most cases, police officers would witness the offence 
taking place. If they do not witness the offence because they have been called to a street party, they might be 
able to smell rubber and hear the car’s engine chinking away as it cools and its tyres might be sticky — 

Hon Paul Llewellyn interjected. 

Hon JON FORD: The police officers talk to witnesses. The member might joke about this — 

Hon Paul Llewellyn: I’m not joking. 

Hon JON FORD: He is joking about it. We could talk about the rules of evidence in a murder case, which could 
also seem frivolous. I am advised that when interviewing witnesses, the police officers find out the identity of 
the driver, and, in fact, in most cases the driver admits to the offence. The police officer and the senior police 
inspector, who would have some experience in these matters, know the evidence the court will consider to be 
reasonable. That is the check. 

Hon WENDY DUNCAN: Like Hon Peter Collier, I have some sympathy for this line of questioning and so I 
did some more homework. I want to check with the minister whether my understanding is correct. If a vehicle is 
impounded for 28 days, is it the responsibility of the senior police officer to verify that the period of impounding 
is reasonable? Does the senior police officer have the ability to reduce the period of impounding if it is not 
deemed reasonable after the event? Is that the case? 

Hon JON FORD: The member is right. If after the car has been impounded the supervising officer finds out that 
it is not a second offence, the 28-day rule would not apply. Also, if the evidence is deficient—for example, a 
person pointing the finger at another person would not be sufficient evidence—other evidence would be 
necessary. In fact, I am advised that experience shows that if two people living in the same house have it in for 
another person, a judgement should be made by the senior officer. For whatever reason, the senior officer can 
say that the evidence is not reasonable evidence and would not be accepted in a court. That would be sufficient 
grounds on which to release the vehicle.  

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: The point is that once the police officer makes a judgement that an offence has 
been committed, he or she can make the decision to impound the vehicle at that point; however, the case would 
still have to go to the court on a foundation offence.  

Hon JON FORD: Yes, the member is right. The case has to go to court and if the evidence does not stand up in 
the court and the charge is thrown out, the impoundment fees would be refunded to the person involved, and the 
car, if it is still impounded, would be returned.  

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: I am not really concerned about whether the police officer’s judgement was right 
or wrong, because an offence would have been committed. In the case of a driving offence, the offender would 
have been driving at either 155 kilometres an hour or more, exceeding the speed limit by 45 kilometres an hour, 
wilfully driving on a car park, spinning the wheels and so on. An offence must be committed before a police 
officer can make a judgement that the person committed an offence. One course of action that the police officer 
can take is to impound the car and that, presumably, takes the heat off the moment. It is now intended to change 
the law to allow the police officer to not only impound the vehicle, but also make a judgement there and then 
that an offence has occurred and, effectively, he can impose a punishment by taking away the car for 28 days and 
charging an impoundment fee. The police officer is, at that moment, judge and jury.  

My point is that regardless of whether the car is impounded for 48 hours, seven days or 28 days, the case has to 
go to court for the court to make a determination. The current law provides for the vehicle to be impounded for 
48 hours. Would it not make sense for the impoundment of the vehicle to be tied to the actual offence and 
prosecution in the court? Would the minister please deal with that proposition?  
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Hon JON FORD: The whole point of this legislation, as I outlined in my second reading speech and as Hon 
Paul Llewellyn alluded to during the debate, is that it should provide a deterrent. At the end of my second 
reading speech I said that action needed to be immediate, consistent and severe enough to act as a deterrent. It is 
therefore a policy judgement. The person still gets his day in court. We can argue the quantum of the deterrent, 
but such action is applied right across the board. If someone is driving and does not have a cover over his trailer, 
I am pretty sure that in the Shire of Mundaring, for example, he would be subject to an on-the-spot $50 fine. 
Similarly, if a driver is speeding, he would be subject to a penalty on the spot. If a driver parked where he was 
not supposed to park, even if he did not notice the no-parking sign, he might come back and find a computer 
notice on his windscreen telling him to please pay the City of Stirling $75, which I think was the last sum that I 
had to pay. The quantum of the offence we are talking about is much greater. Hon Paul Llewellyn is arguing for 
a lower bar. However, a driver could be doing low-speed donuts by spinning a car’s wheels to turn 360 degrees 
in a car park. Although he might do that at a very low speed, it would still be extremely dangerous to everybody 
in that area. If it is a second offence, woe betide him. If he has committed an offence before and lost the use of 
his car as a result, he will be well and truly aware that if he commits that offence again, he will lose his car for a 
longer period if this legislation is passed by the Parliament. That is the deterrent. 

The government’s view as a result of the public debate is that the public truly wants this. We have had this 
debate before: part of the government’s job is to react to what the community wants, and the government 
sometimes has to argue that what the community wants is excessive. However, in this case the government 
thinks it is striking a balance. We could go a lot harder. In some international jurisdictions such drivers lose their 
cars for 60 days. In Norway, for example, if a driver is convicted of drink-driving once, he has his car taken off 
him, and it does not matter whether it is a Rolls Royce, a Mercedes or an old Datsun, he has lost his car. That is 
the deterrent. Hon Paul Llewellyn is arguing policy (a), which is that we should adopt a much more cautious 
approach; the government is arguing policy (b), which is that we should adopt the approach we have adopted. 
There was another debate somewhere else that it should be policy (c), which was that we should be much harder. 
The policy (c) debate was lost. I think I can refer to it because Hon Peter Collier referred to it in his remarks, so I 
am referring to a debate in this house. People have taken different positions, and I understand the position that 
Hon Paul Llewellyn has taken, but the government has quite unashamedly taken the position that this is a 
reasonable policy. It is about having a deterrent and meeting the expectation of the community. If the community 
comes back to us in 12 months and tells us that the deterrent is too excessive and that too many cars are being 
taken, we will have to consider that. If the incidence of offences keeps on rising, we will have to look at other 
amendments to legislation to see what we can do to stop it occurring. It is about protecting the community. When 
we say “hooning”, we are talking about offences that put people’s lives at risk—for example, driving down the 
road at 130 kilometres an hour in an 80 kilometre or 100 kilometre an hour zone. These offences place at risk the 
lives of the driver and passengers in the vehicle, and the people around the vehicle. If the driver is chucking 
doughnuts in the street at a party at which there are a lot of drunken young people fooling around, it all seems 
like good fun until somebody gets smashed; he does not get a second chance. This legislation is about sending 
the message that we cannot tolerate such behaviour. 

The CHAIRMAN: Members, we are dealing with clause 7, and I put it to the committee that clause 7 is all 
about amending section 79 of the Road Traffic Act 1974. Hon Paul Llewellyn has an amendment in his name on 
the supplementary notice paper to delete from line 10 on page 5 through to line 16 on page 6, which in effect is 
the whole of clause 7. As members know, there is no need for Hon Paul Llewellyn to move the amendment 
because the correct way to approach this is to vote against the clause when the time comes. 

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: Thank you, Mr Chairman. It was good to clear that up. The Greens (WA) propose 
to delete the entire clause because it is the offending clause. I need to unpack my argument.  

Impoundment of 28 days will quite clearly work as a deterrent, but impoundment of 48 hours has also worked as 
a deterrent. I will quote some statistics because I want to make sure that we have both the facts and the principles 
of this matter on the table. The two principles we are discussing are the separation of powers and the 
presumption of innocence. The facts, as I understand the minister to mean, are that reckless driving is very 
dangerous and that we need to have a deterrent in place. I have a table of the number of vehicle seizures for first, 
second and third offences that have taken place since the commencement of antihoon legislation in 2004. The 
total number of first offences was 2 370. The total number of second offences was 80. This piece of evidence 
alone provides a fairly strong argument that impoundment of 48 hours has been pretty effective. The Greens 
(WA) are not arguing against that penalty. There is some fairly strong evidence from other countries—I quoted 
this evidence during the second reading debate—that a 28-day penalty removes the “badge of honour” incentive, 
because the car is taken away for a longer period. It is somewhat effective. The Greens (WA) are not arguing 
about whether the impoundment period should be 28 days or even 60 days; we are talking about whether it is 
proper for the police to act as judge and jury on the side of the road, and whether it is proper for us to separate 
those powers. Given that these offenders will be charged with one of these offences and will go to court, it would 
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seem that 48 hours’ impoundment has been pretty effective. The argument about the badge of honour may be 
true, but I do not believe it is as substantial as the government claims. The total number of vehicles seized for 
third offences—from a first offence total of 2 370—was five. This indicates that something is actually working. 
However, the minister tells us that there is a moral outcry and that the community wants a higher penalty. The 
Greens (WA) can accept that, but we do not accept that it should be done at the expense of blurring the 
separation of powers and throwing out the principle of presumption of innocence. Could the minister please 
address those specific issues?  

Hon JON FORD: I have before me the vehicle seizure figures by calendar year since the commencement of the 
hoon legislation in 2004. In the calendar year 2004, a total of 154 vehicles were seized. 

Hon Paul Llewellyn: Is this for total seizures? 

Hon JON FORD: Yes, it is. In 2005, 402 vehicles were seized; in 2006, 346 vehicles; 2007, 1049—more than 
double the previous year; and for the 2008 year to date, 647 vehicles have been seized. That is some incentive 
and a clear indication that offences are trending upwards. The number of offences is not going down as 
suggested by Hon Paul Llewellyn and, in the government’s view, it is clear evidence that the current legislation 
needs to be strengthened. Hon Paul Llewellyn suggests that the status quo remain—that is, the legislation be left 
as it is—although he has argued against some of the standing provisions of the legislation. Those arguments are 
not, in my view, valid.  

His other argument is about the separation of powers. As I understand it, powers are separated between the 
executive, the Parliament and the judiciary. Policing is a different matter. This is about the administration of the 
law and not about the separation of powers. We have an argument about the separation of powers in this place; 
namely, that calling people to the Bar of the house and summarily sending them to jail can be argued about in 
terms of the separation of powers. However, I do not wish to be churlish. This is an administrative matter. 
Today, we are deciding a method that will stop the increase in the number of offences; we are not debating all 
those other matters mentioned by Hon Paul Llewellyn. 

Between 2006 and 2007, the number of offences is closer to having trebled than it is to having doubled. We are 
not yet midway through 2008 and there have been 647 offences. Once again, it is a significant increase in the 
number of vehicles confiscated.  

I will not be able to convince Hon Paul Llewellyn of the merits of my position and he will not be able to 
convince me of the merits of his position. Strengthening this legislation—and clause 7 in particular—is required 
to deter offenders and to protect both offenders and members of the general community. Hon Paul Llewellyn and 
I argue from different sides of the fence.  

Hon PETER COLLIER: The opposition can see the merit in the argument about the potential blurring of the 
separation of powers. We are very cognisant of the necessity to maintain the separation of powers. I say to Hon 
Paul Llewellyn that there is no doubt whatsoever about that. I have personally argued that point on a number of 
occasions in this chamber. Having said that, we are also cognisant that hooning has almost become an epidemic 
in our community. The figures that the minister just provided are quite frightening. In fact, the opposition has 
called for even tougher laws on hooning, so it would hardly be in our better interests to oppose this clause. I 
understand that the government will be supporting this clause. If the government will not make any compromise 
with the Greens, the opposition will support the clause.  

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: We need to put on the record that we are not arguing about whether impoundment 
for 28 days is a sufficient penalty. In fact, the proposals we have put on the table are arguably more punitive 
except that they require the court to make the judgement and not a police officer on the side of the road, because 
the offender would have to go to court anyway. That is the fundamental principle here. We are not talking about 
bargaining from any strongly held position about whether this clause is right or wrong, or whether 28 days is 
better or worse. We are saying that the principle we should be debating here is whether it is right and proper for 
police officers to act as judge and jury on the side of the road and impose a penalty, or whether we should use 
the judicial system, which is actually in place. Only one step down from this proposal, in the legislation, is a 
provision to take that offence through the courts. 

I have information to the effect that between 2004 and 2008 there has been a significant increase in the number 
of seizures of vehicles. I have not had any specific evidence about why that has happened. It could be due to a 
widening of the net, and that there is now an offence in that area. The point I am making, which I think the 
minister avoided, is that of the 2 370 first offences, there were just 80 second offences, so the 48-hour 
impoundment penalty contained in the current law appears to be working to prevent reoffending. I do not know 
whether there is an epidemic or whether the net has widened so that the police are finding and charging more 
people. Perhaps it is because the police have these extraordinary powers and are getting used to them and paying 
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more attention. However, that is not the point we are making. I fully accept that the Liberal Party has chosen to 
support the clause. Although it may have seen some of the merits of the Greens’ argument, it is not now 
effectively able to make a change and support us on principle. Opposing this clause is not supporting the Greens; 
it is supporting the principle of separating the police powers and the court’s powers. I do not want to get 
distracted into the language that we just heard about the true separation of powers of the executive and so on. It 
is the separation of the powers between the courts and the police—the proper role that police officers should be 
playing and the proper role that the courts should be playing—given that they have an integral role in the way in 
which this law has been set up. We are not asking for the law to say anything other than that, when a police 
officer impounds a car and it is presumed an offence has taken place, the case goes to court and an additional 
penalty is added to the impoundment; that is, impoundment for 28 days at the time the court makes a 
determination. It is not less punitive; it is more punitive than what applies now. It is just that the punishment 
would not be doled out by a police officer, but carefully considered by the court, where it should be considered. 
The decision about whether a person is guilty as charged and should receive a penalty will be made in the right 
place. This Parliament should stand on that principle. The Greens accept that.  

Is there any other statute in Western Australia under which the police can impose this kind of penalty without 
going to the courts? Even the parking fine that Hon Jon Ford referred to can be challenged in the courts. 
However, once someone’s car has been taken away for 28 days, it will be all over red rover; the penalty will 
have been imposed by the police officer. I think that is wrong in principle, not in mind; this is not about mind. 
Will the minister please answer that question?  

Hon JON FORD: Yes. I think the member will find that under the Fish Resources Management Act I could 
confiscate a $2 million cray boat, plus all the fishing gear. If I caught the member taking marron, I could take his 
car.  

Hon Paul Llewellyn: A fisheries officer can do that without going to the courts?  

Hon JON FORD: Yes. A Department of Environment and Conservation officer and a fisheries officer can do 
that.  

Clause put and a division taken with the following result — 
Ayes (23) 

Hon Matt Benson-Lidholm Hon Wendy Duncan Hon Graham Giffard Hon Simon O’Brien 
Hon George Cash Hon Sue Ellery Hon Ray Halligan Hon Batong Pham 
Hon Vincent Catania Hon Brian Ellis Hon Barry House Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich 
Hon Kim Chance Hon Donna Faragher Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Sally Talbot 
Hon Peter Collier Hon Anthony Fels Hon Norman Moore Hon Ed Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Bruce Donaldson Hon Jon Ford Hon Helen Morton  

Noes (3) 

Hon Shelley Archer Hon Paul Llewellyn Hon Giz Watson (Teller)  

Clause thus passed. 
Sitting suspended from 6.00 to 7.30 pm 

Clause 8: Section 79A amended — 
Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: Having lost the last proposal I put forward, I am very happy to withdraw my 
amendment to clause 8. If Hon Jon Ford was not the Minister for Fisheries, he probably would not have known 
about the confiscation clause in the Fish Resources Management Act 1994. However, I heard recently that 
someone burnt some boats but it turned out that they burnt the wrong boats. 

Hon Jon Ford: That came under federal jurisdiction. 

Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: Yes, it was a different jurisdiction. Nevertheless, it related to powers to burn boats 
and to confiscate boats, and we have heard that someone burnt the wrong boats. I wanted to draw the minister’s 
attention to that fact.  

I will be withdrawing the other amendments in my name because they relate to this one. I do so on the proviso 
that we should remember that we were not debating whether a vehicle should be impounded for 28 days or seven 
days; we were debating whether there should be an adequate separation of power between the police and the 
courts, and the presumption of innocence. This bill is a hoon bill by name and a hoon bill in practice because the 
government has crossed the thin blue line by putting forward this legislation and seeking to determine where the 
judgements should be made.  

Clause put and passed.  
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Clauses 9 to 11 put and passed.  

Clause 12: Section 80B amended — 
Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: Again, I withdraw the amendment to clause 12 standing in my name. I remind 
members that this proposal was not less than what the government had on the table. Arguably, it was more 
punitive but it left the judgement in the hands of the courts rather than in the hands of a police officer on the side 
of the road. A member came to me during the break and said that he would have supported me but he did not 
want to see the courts congested by unnecessary referrals. In fact, every single prosecution under this bill would 
have gone through the courts in any case. The only difference is that when the courts make a decision, they could 
impose a penalty for a first offence and confiscate and impound a vehicle for up to 20 days. Having said that, I 
do not think an argument was made that this amendment would have led to the courts being congested. 
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN (Hon Ray Halligan): Does Hon Paul Llewellyn not wish to proceed with his 
amendment? 
Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: That is correct. 
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: Is it correct also that he will not proceed with proposed new clause 12? 
Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN: That is correct. New clause 12 simply would have created a pathway whereby any 
prosecution would have gone to the courts. That new clause will not function without the earlier two 
amendments that have not been passed. I will not move the new clause. 
Clause put and passed. 
Clauses 13 to 25 put and passed. 
Title put and passed. 

Report 
Bill reported, without amendment, and the report adopted. 
 


